**S 166350**

**SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

**AUG 29 2008**

No. S \_\_\_\_\_

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

\_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy

BRINKER RESTAURANT CORPORATION, BRINKER  
INTERNATIONAL, INC., and BRINKER INTERNATIONAL PAYROLL  
COMPANY, L.P.

Petitioners,

vs.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA  
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,  
Respondent.

ADAM HOHNBAUM, ILLYA HAASE, ROMEO OSORIO,  
AMANDA JUNE RADER and SANTANA ALVARADO,  
Real Parties in Interest.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate  
District, Division One, Case No. D049331, Granting a Writ of Mandate to the

## I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This petition raises questions of statutory interpretation that are of widespread importance for millions of workers and their employers across California:

1. Meal Period Compliance Issue: Under the Labor Code (§§226.7 and 512) and Industrial Welfare Commission (“IWC”) Wage Orders (§11),<sup>1</sup> must an employer actually relieve workers of all duty so they can take their statutorily-mandated meal periods, as held in *Cicairos v. Summit Logistics, Inc.*, 133 Cal.App.4th 949 (2005), *review & depub. denied*, no. S139377 (01/18/06)? Or may employers comply simply by making meal periods “available,” as held in *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)*, 165 Cal.App.4th 25 (Jul. 22, 2008)?
2. Meal Period Timing Issue: Do the Labor Code (§§226.7 and 512) and Wage Orders (§11) impose a timing requirement for meal periods? Or can employers provide a meal period at *any* time during a shift of up to ten hours without becoming liable for an extra hour of pay under section 226.7(b), as held in *Brinker*?
3. Rest Break Compliance Issue: Under the Labor Code (§226.7) and Wage Orders (§12), which require ten

---

<sup>1</sup> Wage Order 5-2001, which governs this case, is codified at 8 Cal. Code Regs. (“CCR”) §11050. All statutory references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise specified. “PE” refers to Brinker’s exhibits in support of its writ petition. “RJN[date]” refers to requests for judicial notice filed below on the indicated date. “RJNSC” refers to the request for judicial notice filed herewith.



minutes' rest time "per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof," must employers provide a ten-minute rest break to employees who work between two and six hours, a second ten-minute rest break to employees who work more than six hours and up to ten, a third ten-minute rest break to employees who work more than ten hours and up to fourteen (etc.), as stated in DLSE Op.Ltr. 1999.02.16? Or may an employer compel employees to work an eight-hour shift with only a single rest break, as held in *Brinker*?

4. *Rest Break Timing Issue*: Under the Labor Code (§226.7) and Wage Orders (§12), may employers withhold the first rest break until after the first meal period, as held in *Brinker*?

This petition also raises two issues relating to class certification procedure that are of equally broad-ranging import for numerous pending wage and hour class actions statewide:

5. *Survey and Statistical Evidence Issue*: May trial courts accept expert survey and statistical evidence as a method of proving meal period, rest break, and/or "off-the-clock" claims on a classwide basis?
6. *Standard of Appellate Review Issue*: When an appellate court reviews an order *granting* class certification, does the appellate court prejudicially err by: (a) deciding issues not enmeshed with the class certification requirements; (b) applying newly-announced legal standards to the facts, then reversing the class certification order with prejudice, instead of remanding for the certification proponent to attempt to meet the new standards, and for the trial court

to apply the new standards to the facts in the first instance; or (c) reweighing the evidence instead of reviewing the trial court's predominance finding under the substantial evidence standard of review?

## II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Petitioners Adam Hohnbaum, Illya Haase, Romeo Osorio, Amanda June Bader, and Santana Alvarado (“petitioners”) are hourly workers for Brinker Restaurant Corporation, operator of Chili’s and the Macaroni Grill (“Brinker”). They seek review of a published Court of Appeal opinion that threatens to undermine the protections established in the Labor Code and Wage Orders and—worse—their ability to join with their 60,000 current and former co-workers and seek relief against their employer in a class action to enforce these protections.

The published *Brinker* opinion creates a clear-cut split in authority among the Courts of Appeal on one of the most hotly-litigated wage and hour questions now wending its way through the judicial system—whether employers must actually relieve workers of all duty so they can take their statutorily-mandated meal periods.

In *Cicairos*, the Third Appellate District held that “employers have ‘an affirmative obligation to ensure that workers are actually relieved of all duty’” for their meal periods. 133 Cal.App.4th at 962-63 (quoting DLSE Op.Ltr. 2002.01.28 (2RJN7564)). In *Brinker*, the Fourth District, Division One refused to follow *Cicairos*, holding instead that “employers need not ensure meal breaks are actually taken, but need only make them available.” Slip op. 44.

Review should be granted to resolve this split and restore uniformity of decision on a critical question of California law. Review

should also be granted to address the other fundamental meal period and rest break compliance issues this case raises.

These issues are ripe for review. They flow logically from *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.*, 40 Cal.4th 1094 (2007), in which this Court addressed an important threshold question—whether the extra hour of pay mandated for meal period and rest break violations is “compensation” or a “penalty.” That question had been raised in dozens of actions pending across California, and its resolution in *Murphy* impacted thousands of non-exempt workers and employers.

This case raises the next questions—substantive ones—that courts will inevitably face in all of these actions: What do the meal period and rest break laws require of employers?

According to the Labor Commissioner, “there is great confusion and disagreement on fundamental questions of what [the law] actually requires, and what steps employers must take in order to comply with their statutory obligations.” DLSE Pub. Request, filed 10/30/07, at 4. The answers to these questions will affect “hundreds of thousands of employees” across the state. *Id.* at 5.

The importance of these questions—especially the central meal period compliance question—is demonstrated by the many pending cases in which they are being actively litigated:

- The meal period compliance question has already reached this Court at least three times—including last October, in this case. *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)*, No. S157479 (filed 10/22/07; review

granted and transferred);<sup>2</sup> *see also RadioShack Corp. v. Superior Court (Brookler)*, No. S158083 (filed 11/08/07; review denied); *Bell v. Superior Court (H.R. Cox, Inc.)*, No. S160423 (filed 01/29/08; review denied; depublication granted).

- The question has also been raised in at least two more cases now pending before other Court of Appeal panels. *Savaglio v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, Nos. A116458, A116459, A116886 (First Dist., Div. Four) (RJNSC, Ex. A); *Brinkley v. Public Storage, Inc.*, No. B200513 (Second Dist., Div. Three) (RJNSC, Ex. B).
- Since March 2008, the question has been raised in the Ninth Circuit in at least *four* petitions for permission to appeal under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(f). Two of the petitions are currently pending.<sup>3</sup>
- Across California, federal district judges have issued orders addressing the meal period compliance question in

---

<sup>2</sup> In October 2007, petitioners sought review of a very similar, but unpublished, opinion reversing class certification of their meal period, rest break, and off-the-clock claims. *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)*, 2007 WL 2965604, 13 Wage & Hour Cas.2d (BNA) 1664 (10/12/07 nonpub.). At the Court of Appeal's request, this Court ordered that unpublished opinion vacated and transferred the case back for further proceedings.

<sup>3</sup> *Gabriella v. Wells Fargo Financial, Inc.*, No. 08-80120 (9th Cir., filed 08/18/08) (pending) (RJNSC, Ex. C); *Salazar v. Avis Budget Group, Inc.*, No. 08-80105 (9th Cir., filed 07/15/08) (pending) (RJNSC, Ex. D); *Kenny v. Supercuts, Inc.*, No. 08-80093 (9th Cir., filed 06/12/08) (withdrawn due to settlement); *Brown v. Federal Express Corp.*, No. 08-80031 (9th Cir., filed 03/10/08) (petition denied).

at least six separate class actions in the past fourteen months.<sup>4</sup>

- California trial courts continue to grapple with the question in myriad cases.<sup>5</sup>

Long before the new, published *Brinker* opinion, the importance of the issues raised in this case was widely recognized. Fourteen organizations filed amicus briefs below.<sup>6</sup> The Court of Appeal's unpublished opinion from last October generated twelve publication

---

<sup>4</sup> *Gabriella v. Wells Fargo Fin. Corp.*, 2008 WL 3200190 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 4, 2008); *Perez v. Safety-Kleen Sys., Inc.*, \_\_\_ F.R.D. \_\_\_, 2008 WL 2949268 (N.D. Cal. Jul. 28, 2008); *Salazar v. Avis Budget Group, Inc.*, \_\_\_ F.R.D. \_\_\_, 2008 WL 2676626 (S.D. Cal. Jul. 2, 2008); *Kenny v. Supercuts, Inc.*, 2008 WL 2265194 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 2, 2008); *Brown v. Federal Express Corp.*, 249 F.R.D. 580 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 26, 2008); *White v. Starbucks Corp.*, 497 F.Supp.2d 1080 (N.D. Cal. Jul. 2, 2007); *Perez v. Safety-Kleen Sys., Inc.*, 2007 WL 1848037 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 27, 2007).

<sup>5</sup> *See, e.g., Grassi v. Party City Corp.*, No. GIC874341 (San Diego Co., Jul. 17, 2008, Aug. 5, 2008) (RJNSC, Exs. E, F); *Castro v. White Cap Constr. Supply*, No. CSC-05-446144 (San Francisco Co., Jan. 4, 2008) at 10 (RJNSC, Ex. G)); *Brookler v. RadioShack Corp.*, No. BC313383 (Los Angeles Co., Feb. 6, 2006, Sept. 6, 2007) (RJNSC, Exs. H, I); *Torres v. ABC Security*, No. RG04-158774 (Alameda Co., Dec. 12, 2006) at 7 (RJNSC, Ex. J); *Gonzalez v. Nestle Waters N. Am. Holdings*, No. BC321485 (Los Angeles Co., Feb. 8, 2006) at 9 (RJNSC, Ex. K); *Savaglio v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, No. C-835687 (Alameda Co., Nov. 6, 2003) at 15-18 (RJNSC, Ex. L).

<sup>6</sup> For workers: California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation, Contra Costa County Central Labor Council, Northern California Carpenters Regional Council, SEIU United Healthcare Workers-West, South Bay Central Labor Council, Alameda County Central Labor Council. For employers: National Retail Federation, California Restaurant Association, Employers Group, National Council of Chain Restaurants, California Hospital Association, California Retailers Association, National Association of Theatre Owners of California/Nevada, California Employment Law Council.

requests<sup>7</sup> and significant attention from practitioners.<sup>8</sup> Commentators eagerly anticipated a new opinion.<sup>9</sup> When *Brinker* was re-argued in May, sixteen people ordered a copy of the oral argument CD. See Docket, No. D049331, 05/14/08 to 08/19/08.

The reaction to the published *Brinker* opinion dated July 22 was even more widespread.

The legal and mainstream press both covered the opinion.<sup>10</sup> Practitioners wrote extensively on its implications, both in print<sup>11</sup> and

---

<sup>7</sup> Filed by Brinker; Labor Commissioner Angela Bradstreet; California Employment Law Council; Employers Group; Cross Country Healthcare; Wells Fargo Bank; Bally Total Fitness Corp.; RadioShack Corp.; Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Ruud & Romo; Proskauer Rose; Paul, Plevin, Sullivan & Connaughton; and Manatt, Phelps & Phillips.

<sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Cross Country Healthcare Pub. Request, filed 10/18/07 (“[M]any ... lawyers who have been involved in meal period class actions were aware of the *Brinker* case even before the *Brinker* opinion issued. We were awaiting the decision ....”); Manatt, Phelps & Phillips Pub. Request, filed 10/26/07 (“Despite its unpublished status, the opinion has received widespread attention in the legal press and on internet web blogs covering California laws.”); “Wage-and-Hour Onslaught,” *Daily Journal* (Nov. 23, 2007) (discussing unpublished *Brinker* opinion); “The Wage-And-Hour Class Action Epidemic,” *Law360* (Dec. 7, 2007) (same); “Wage Scales,” *Los Angeles Lawyer*, Jun. 2008, at 25 (same); see also “Piece-Meal Rules,” *Daily Journal* (Jul. 11, 2008) (discussing meal period compliance issue raised in *Brinker*).

<sup>9</sup> See, e.g., “Employment Law Roundtable,” *Daily Journal* (Aug. 1, 2008) (“We anxiously await the court of appeal’s decision in *Brinker II* ....”); “Wage Scales,” *supra*, at 30 (“It seems likely that the Fourth District will issue a new, and published, opinion in 2008.”).

<sup>10</sup> “Panel Rejects Class Status for Meal Breaks,” *Daily Journal*, (Jul. 23, 2008); “Workers Can’t Catch a Break from Calif. Court,” *The Recorder* (Jul. 23, 2008); “Calif. Appeals Court Overturns Class Cert in Chili’s Suit,” *Law360* (Jul. 23, 2008); “Employers Must Give Breaks, Not Ensure They Are Taken,” *Metropolitan News-Enterprise* (Jul. 23, 2008); “Appeals court: Brinker case will not proceed as a class action,”

online.<sup>12</sup> On August 15, the Labor and Employment Law Section of the State Bar of California held a teleseminar, “*Brinker*: the End of California Meal and Rest Break Litigation—or Only the Beginning?”, and 142 registrants signed up.

The Executive Branch’s reaction to the opinion was also remarkable. The Governor issued a press release the same afternoon.<sup>13</sup> The Labor Commissioner distributed a new interpretive memo just three days later, saying that “*Brinker* decided several significant issues regarding the interpretation of California’s meal and rest period

---

*Dallas Business News* (Jul. 23, 2008); “California appeals court backs flexible rules on meal breaks,” *Sacramento Bee* (Jul. 23, 2008); “Court upholds flexible meal breaks,” *Central Valley Business Times* (Jul. 23, 2008); “BAR-ometer,” *The Recorder* (Jul. 25, 2008) (“↓ Employees. A court says you can only file wage-and-hour suits on an individual basis.”); “Staff breaks not duty of restaurants, court decides,” *San Diego Union Tribune* (Jul. 29, 2008); “Calif. court ruling favors employers in meal break dispute,” *LegalNewsline* (Jul. 29, 2008).

<sup>11</sup> “Meal and Rest Break Class Actions: On the ‘Brinker’ of Extinction?” *Daily Journal* (Jul. 25, 2008); “A Bad Meal Deal: ‘Brinker’ Gets the Incentive Question Wrong,” *Daily Journal* (Aug. 6, 2008); “A Significant Victory for California Employers,” *Law360* (Aug. 7, 2008); “Meal and Rest Periods: Best Practices in Light of *Brinker*,” *The Daily Recorder* (Aug. 12, 2008); “Break Rulings Mark ‘Cautious Victory’ For Employers,” *Law360* (Aug. 18, 2008).

<sup>12</sup> For collections of links to the extensive online coverage, see “More on Brinker,” *The Complex Litigator* (Jul. 23, 2008) (<http://www.thecomplexlitigator.com/2008/07/more-on-brinker.html>, viewed 08/29/08); “Brinker Round-up,” *Storm’s California Employment Law* (Jul. 23, 2008) (<http://stormsemploymentlaw.com/brinker-round-up>, viewed 08/29/08); “Even More on Brinker,” *The Complex Litigator* (Jul. 28, 2008) (<http://www.thecomplexlitigator.com/2008/07/even-more-on-br.html>, viewed 08/29/08).

<sup>13</sup> “Gov. Schwarzenegger Issues Statement on Meals and Rest Breaks for Employees” (07/22/08) (<http://gov.ca.gov/press-release/10273/>, viewed 08/29/08).

requirements.”<sup>14</sup> The Commissioner also amended the DLSE Enforcement Manual to “conform to *Brinker*” and withdrew an opinion letter cited in *Brinker*.<sup>15</sup> This new enforcement policy is directly contrary to its prior one, which was consistent with *Cicairos* and was applied in countless Berman proceedings and employer audits.<sup>16</sup>

In sum, the many cases in which the meal period compliance question has arisen, along with the significant interest the *Brinker* decision generated in the press, among practitioners, and within the Executive Branch, all demonstrate the importance of the issue and the need for uniformity of decision. Without guidance from this Court, the split in authority between *Brinker* and *Cicairos* will only fester below.

The Court should also grant review to decide several other critical questions about what the meal and rest break laws require. As the Labor Commissioner recognized, these questions are “significant”<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>14</sup> Memorandum from Labor Commissioner Angela Bradstreet, *et al.*, to DLSE Staff (Jul. 25, 2008) (hereafter “DLSE July 2008 Interp.Memo.”) ([http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSE/Brinker\\_memo\\_to\\_staff-7-25-08.pdf](http://www.dir.ca.gov/DLSE/Brinker_memo_to_staff-7-25-08.pdf), viewed 08/29/08); see “Bradstreet Riles Labor Unions. High Court Ahead?” *Legal Pad* (Aug. 5, 2008) ([http://legalpad.typepad.com/my\\_weblog/2008/08/bradstreet-rile.html](http://legalpad.typepad.com/my_weblog/2008/08/bradstreet-rile.html), viewed 08/29/08).

<sup>15</sup> DLSE Enforcement Manual Revisions, July 2008 v.2, at 2-4 (revisions dated 07/25/08) ([http://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/DLSEManual/DLSE\\_EnfcManual\\_Revisions.pdf](http://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/DLSEManual/DLSE_EnfcManual_Revisions.pdf), viewed 08/29/08); DLSE Withdrawn Opinion Letters (noting 07/25/08 withdrawal of Op.Ltr. 1999.02.16 (cited in *Brinker*, slip op. 25)) (<http://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/OpinionLetters-Withdrawn.htm>, viewed 08/29/08).

<sup>16</sup> See, e.g., DLSE Op.Ltr. 2002.01.28 (2RJN7564); DLSE Enforcement Manual (2002 Update) at 45-4 (“It is the employer’s burden to compel the worker to cease work during the meal period.”) (RJN05/11/07, Ex. 4).

<sup>17</sup> DLSE July 2008 Interp.Memo., at 1.



and “highly controversial.”<sup>18</sup> They also impact millions of workers, and courts will inevitably face them in the many pending cases.

One question is whether the Labor Code and Wage Orders impose any *timing* requirement for meal periods. The Court of Appeal held that a meal period is required for employees who work a shift longer than five hours, but need not be given at any particular time during the workday. Slip op. 36-37. Hence, by moving the meal period to the beginning or the end of the shift, employers may force employees to work nearly ten hours straight without a meal. According to the Labor Commissioner, “[t]he confusion surrounding this issue is neither hypothetical nor isolated.” DLSE Pub. Request, filed 10/30/07, at 2.

The other important questions relate to rest breaks.

May employers refuse to provide rest breaks until after employees have worked four full hours—even though the Wage Orders require “ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours *or major fraction thereof*”? The Court of Appeal said yes, contrary to 60 years of DLSE teaching. Slip op. 24-28. This means that an employee working an eight-hour shift would accrue just one rest break, not two—a revolutionary reinterpretation of California’s rest break laws.

And may employers require workers to postpone their rest breaks until after the first meal period—pushing the meal period to the beginning of the work period and the rest time to the end—even though the DLSE believes that “the first rest period should come sometime before the meal break”? The Court of Appeal said yes again. Slip op. 28-29.

---

<sup>18</sup> DLSE Publication Request, filed 10/30/07, at 2.

The Labor Commissioner called these questions “some of the most fundamental aspects of California statutory meal and rest period requirements.” DLSE Pub. Request, filed 10/30/07, at 1.

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