**COPY**  
SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

SEP 18 2008

Frederick K. Conrad

Deputy

**S166350**

**IN THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT**

---

**BRINKER RESTAURANT CORPORATION, BRINKER  
INTERNATIONAL, INC., and BRINKER INTERNATIONAL  
PAYROLL COMPANY, L.P., a Delaware Corporation, and DOES 1  
through 500, inclusive,**

*Petitioners and Defendants,*

v.

**THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY,**

*Respondent.*

**ADAM HOHNBAUM, ILLYA HAASE, ROMEO OSORIO,  
AMANDA JUNE RADER, and SANTANA ALVARADO and ROES 1  
through 500, inclusive on behalf of themselves and all others similarly  
situated, and on behalf of the general public,**

*Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest.*

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **BECAUSE EVERY CALIFORNIA APPELLATE AND FEDERAL COURT TO ADDRESS THE “PROVIDE VS. ENSURE” ISSUE AGREES THAT EMPLOYERS NEED ONLY *PROVIDE* MEAL PERIODS, THERE IS NO CONFLICT FOR THIS COURT TO RESOLVE.**

#### A. ***Brinker* Does Not Conflict With *Cicairos* And Is Consistent With *Murphy* – Employers Must Provide, But Need Not Ensure, Meal Periods.**

Plaintiffs’ Petition hinges largely on a purported conflict between *Brinker* and the Third District’s opinion in *Cicairos* – and fails because there simply is no conflict and

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal similarly held that Plaintiffs’ claims that *Brinker* unlawfully required its employees to work off-the-clock during meal periods are “not amenable to class treatment because, once the elements of those claims are considered, individual issues predominate.” (Slip Opinion, p. 51.) Plaintiffs have not sought review of this holding.

because *Brinker* is entirely consistent with this Court’s characterization of employers’ meal period obligations in *Murphy*.

**1. *Brinker* Does Not Conflict With *Cicairos*.**

The five plaintiffs in *Cicairos* were truck drivers who sued their employer for alleged rest break and meal period violations – but the posture of the case was entirely different. (*Cicairos*, *supra*, 133 Cal.App.4th at p. 952.) The trial court in *Cicairos* granted a defense motion for summary judgment, thereby resolving the plaintiffs’ meal period claims against them; the Court of Appeal reversed, concluding that the employer’s management policies and corporate systems prevented it from satisfying its obligation to *provide* meal periods – because, among other things, the employer had an on-board computer system monitoring the drivers’ minute-by-minute activities, but failed to “schedule meal periods or include an activity code for them.” (*Id.* at pp. 955-956.) As the Third District explained, there was evidence that the employer had “pressured drivers to make more than one daily trip, making drivers feel that they should not stop for lunch.” (*Id.* at p. 956.) It was thus hardly surprising that, “[u]nder th[o]se facts” and on review of a summary judgment, the *Cicairos* court concluded that the employer had “failed to establish that it *provided* the plaintiffs with their required meal periods.” (*Id.* at p. 963, emphasis added.)<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Although Plaintiffs claim that Brinker’s restaurants were understaffed, thus “making it harder [for employees] to stop for lunch” (Petition, p. 18), they did not present any evidence of a centralized practice of discouraging meal periods (and thus cannot align themselves with the *Cicairos* plaintiffs). In fact, one of the named *Brinker* Plaintiffs testified that, at the restaurant where he worked, there were “breakers” assigned to relieve employees during their meal periods (PE 5478, 5487-5490; see also PE 932-



The holding in *Cicairos* – that the employer failed in its “obligation to *provide* the plaintiffs with an adequate meal period [by] assuming that the meal periods were taken” while creating conditions that discouraged meal periods (*Cicairos, supra*, 133 Cal.App.4th at p. 962, emphasis added), is completely consistent with the *Brinker* court’s holding that “employers cannot *impede, discourage or dissuade* employees from taking meal periods” (Slip Opinion, p. 4, emphasis added). Both *Brinker* and *Cicairos* condemned employer policies and practices that “effectively deprive[d] [their employees] of their breaks,” and both opinions are “consistent . . . with a rule requiring an employer to *offer or provide or authorize and permit* a meal break.” (*White v. Starbucks Corp.* (N.D. Cal. 2007) 497 F.Supp.2d 1080, 1089, original emphasis.)

To avoid this conclusion, Plaintiffs fixate on a single sentence in the *Cicairos* opinion – that “employers have ‘an affirmative obligation to ensure that workers are actually relieved of all duty’” (*Cicairos, supra*, 133 Cal.App.4th at p. 962), ignoring the fact that *Cicairos* was describing the employer’s duty to *provide* a work-free meal period – not any duty to ensure that the meal period is taken. As explained in *Brown v. Federal Express Corp.* (C.D. Cal. 2008) 249 F.R.D. 580: “It is an employer’s obligation to ensure that its employees are free from its control for thirty minutes, not to ensure that the employees do any particular thing during that time.” (*Id.* at p. 585.)

---

933), and a number of Brinker managers testified about their restaurants’ meal period compliance systems (Slip Opinion, pp. 15-17).

## 2. *Brinker Is Entirely Consistent With Murphy.*

This Court's opinion in *Murphy* confirms that the employer's statutory obligation to provide a meal period means guaranteeing its employees "the right to be free of the employer's control during the meal period" (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1104) – not that they must have lunch. Repeatedly, this Court emphasized that employer liability under Labor Code section 226.7 is triggered not when employees voluntarily decline the breaks they are offered, but only when employees are "*required to work*" through or "*forced to forgo*" meal periods. (*Id.* at pp. 1104, 1108 ["Under the amended version of section 226.7, an employee is entitled to the additional hour of pay immediately upon being *forced to miss* a rest or meal period"], emphasis added; 1113 [describing "the noneconomic injuries employees suffer from being *forced to work* through rest and meal periods"], emphasis added; *ibid.* ["being *forced to forgo* rest and meal periods denies employees time free from employer control that is often needed to be able to accomplish important personal tasks"], emphasis added.)

*Murphy* also undermines Plaintiffs' contention that employers must guarantee their employees' meal periods but only "authorize and permit" their employees' rest breaks, because in *Murphy* this Court addressed the employer's obligations with regard to meal periods *and* rest breaks in identical terms. (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 1104 ["Section 226.7, subdivision (b) requires that employees be paid 'one additional hour of pay' for each work day that they are required to work through a meal or rest period"]; 1108 ["Under the amended version of section 226.7, an employee is entitled to the additional hour of pay immediately upon being forced to miss a meal or rest period"];

1113 [referring to the “noneconomic injuries employees suffer from being forced to work through rest and meal periods”]; *ibid.* [“being forced to forgo rest and meal periods denies employees time free from employer control that is often needed to be able to accomplish important personal tasks”].) Although *Murphy* did not directly address the “provide vs. ensure” question, its characterization of employers’ meal period obligations under the Labor Code is entirely consistent with *Brinker*.

In view of the existing uniformity among California appellate courts, review of this issue is unnecessary.<sup>3</sup>

**B. Every Federal Court Addressing The Issue Agrees That California Law Requires Only That Employers Provide, Not Ensure, Meal Periods.**

Over the last 14 months, *seven* federal courts in California have confirmed that the *Brinker* court got it right when it held that the Labor Code does not obligate employers to guarantee their employees’ meal periods. Not a single federal case has gone the other way.

---

<sup>3</sup> A handful of superior court decisions submitted as part of Plaintiffs’ Request for Judicial Notice suggest that some trial courts have gone astray and held that employers must *ensure* that their employees take the meal periods they provide. Of course, this Court does not grant review to resolve a split among the superior courts, but rather “*to supervise and control the opinions of the several district courts of appeal . . . and by such supervision to endeavor to secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions . . . .*” (*Snukal v. Flightways Mfg., Inc.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 754, 768, quoting *People v. Davis* (1905) 147 Cal. 346, 347-349, emphasis added.)

Similarly, this Court does not grant review because an issue is “pending before other Court of Appeal panels.” (Petition, p. 5.) If and when there is an actual divide among the Courts of Appeal, this Court can then grant review instead of wasting its resources now on the hypothetical conflict that Plaintiffs present.

- In *White, supra*, 497 F.Supp.2d 1080, the Northern District (Chief Judge Walker) agreed with Starbucks on summary judgment that “the statutory term ‘provide’ in Cal. Labor Code §§ 512 and 226.7 demonstrates that the California Legislature intended only for employers to *offer* meal periods – not to ensure that those periods were actually taken.” (*Id.* at p. 1088, original emphasis.) Chief Judge Walker concluded that this Court, “if faced with the issue, would require only that an employer *offer* meal breaks, without forcing employers actively to ensure that workers are taking these breaks.” (*Id.* at pp. 1088-1089, original emphasis.) And *White*, as did *Brinker*, held that *Cicairos* is “consistent . . . with a rule requiring an employer to *offer* or *provide* or *authorize and permit* a meal break.” (*Id.* at p. 1089, original emphasis.)<sup>4</sup>

- In *Brown, supra*, 249 F.R.D. 580, the Central District (Hon. Dale S. Fischer) denied the plaintiffs’ motion to certify meal period and rest break claims, holding that nothing in the Labor Code or the applicable Wage Order “support[ed] Plaintiffs’ position that Defendant was required to ensure that Plaintiffs took meal breaks.” (*Id.* at p. 585.) According to *Brown*, the Wage Order’s language that “[n]o employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal period of not less than 30 minutes” is “consistent with an obligation to provide a meal break, rather than to ensure that employees cease working during that time.” (*Ibid.*,

---

<sup>4</sup> *White* and several other courts discounted *Cicairos* because the Third District relied exclusively on a non-binding DLSE letter rather than the controlling Labor Code provisions. (*White, supra*, 497 F.Supp.2d at p. 1088; *Brown, supra*, 249 F.R.D. at p. 586; *Kenny v. Supercuts, Inc.* (N.D. Cal., June 2, 2008, No. C 06-07521) 2008 WL 2265194, at \*5; *Perez v. Safety-Kleen Systems, Inc.* (N.D. Cal., July 28, 2008, No. C05-5338) \_\_\_ F.R.D. \_\_\_ [2008 WL 2949268], at \*5.)

quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11090(11).) *Brown* underscored the fact that its decision was supported by *Murphy*, explaining that “in characterizing violations of California meal period obligations . . . the California Supreme Court repeatedly described it as an obligation not to force employees to work through breaks.” (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.) Moreover, *Brown* (like *Brinker* and *White*) held that *Cicairos* “is consistent with an obligation to make breaks available, rather than to force employees to take breaks.” (*Id.* at p. 596, citation omitted.)

- In *Kenny, supra*, 2008 WL 2265194, the Northern District (Hon. Charles R. Breyer), after analyzing Labor Code sections 512 and 226.7 and the applicable Wage Order, held that the Labor Code “does not require an employer to ensure that an employee take a meal break,” and that “an employer is not liable for ‘failing to provide a meal break’ simply because the evidence demonstrates that the employee did not actually take a full 30-minute break.” (*Id.* at \*6.) *Kenny* carefully examined the *Cicairos* facts and concluded – as did *Brinker* and *White* and *Brown* – that it “support[s] a finding that the employer did not make meal breaks available, that is, did not provide meal breaks.” (*Id.* at \*5.)

- In *Salazar v. Avis Budget Group, Inc.* (S.D. Cal., July 2, 2008, No. 07-CV-0064) \_\_\_ F.R.D. \_\_\_ [2008 WL 2676626], the Southern District (Hon. Irma E. Gonzalez) “agree[d] with the compelling reasons advanced by the *White*, *Brown*, and *Kenny* decisions for interpreting ‘provide’ to mean ‘make available’ rather than ‘ensure taken.’” (*Id.* at \*4.) As did *Brown*, *Salazar* relied on *Murphy* to bolster its conclusion that

“plaintiffs must show that defendants *forced* plaintiffs to forego missed meal periods.”

(*Ibid.*, original emphasis.)

- In *Perez, supra*, 2008 WL 2949268, the Northern District (Hon. Phyllis J. Hamilton) held that “while employers cannot impede, discourage or prohibit employees from taking meal breaks, they need only make them available, not ensure they are taken.” (*Id.* at \*7.) *Perez* (decided one week after *Brinker*) agreed with *Brinker* and its federal counterparts that “*Cicairos* can [] be read to hold that an employer is liable for failing to ‘provide’ meal breaks if it has a policy or practice of prohibiting or discouraging meal breaks” (*id.* at \*5), noting also that its decision is consistent with *Murphy* which “characterized Section 226.7 as prohibiting an employer from requiring an employee to work through a meal or rest period.” (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.)

- In *Gabriella v. Wells Fargo Financial, Inc.* (N.D. Cal., Aug. 4, 2008, No. C06-4347) 2008 WL 3200190, the Northern District (Hon. Susan Illston) agreed that “employers are only required to provide meal and rest periods, not to ensure that such breaks are actually taken” (*id.* at \*3), finding “the *Brinker* decision to be a good indication of how the California Supreme Court would resolve the issue.” (*Ibid.*)

- In *Kimoto v. McDonald’s Corp.* (C.D. Cal., Aug. 19, 2008, No. CV06-3032) (attached pursuant to rule 8.504(e) of the California Rules of Court), the Central District (Hon. Philip S. Gutierrez) denied class certification, holding that employers need only provide, not ensure, meal periods and rest breaks. (*Id.* at p. 8.) As did *Gabriella*, *Kimoto* “conclude[d] that th[e] recent decision in *Brinker* provides a good indication of how the California Supreme Court would resolve the issue.” (*Id.* at pp. 8-9.)

Not a single federal or California appellate decision has endorsed Plaintiffs' theory that employers are the guarantors of their employees' meal periods.<sup>5</sup> Given the absence of a conflict and the overwhelming, uniform authority on point, this Court's review is wholly unnecessary.

## II. THE MEAL AND REST BREAK "TIMING ISSUES" RAISED BY PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT APPROPRIATE FOR REVIEW.

Plaintiffs' request for review of certain meal period and rest break "timing issues" concedes that these issues have not been considered by any other court but justifies its plea on the ground that "courts will *inevitably* face them in the many pending cases." (Petition, p. 10, emphasis added.) Given the absence of any other relevant decisions (much less a conflict among them), all that Plaintiffs can argue is that the Court of Appeal's decision is incorrect – a mere "error correction" argument that does not justify this Court's intervention.

---

<sup>5</sup> Plaintiffs' reliance on *Stevens v. GCS Services, Inc.* (C.D. Cal., Apr. 10, 2006, No. SACV 04-1337, Hon. Cormac J. Carney) (Plaintiffs' Request for Judicial Notice, Exh. M) is misplaced because *Stevens* does not hold that employers must ensure their employees' meal periods. Under facts similar to those in *Cicairos*, *Stevens* denied summary judgment because there was "evidence that GCS *discouraged* [plaintiff] from taking the breaks and imposed productivity demands that did not permit them." (*Id.* at pp. 2, 23, emphasis added.) *Stevens* is entirely consistent with *Brinker*, which held that an employer fails in its obligation to *provide* meal periods by "discourag[ing]" or dissuad[ing]" employees from taking them. (Slip Opinion, p. 4.)

### **A. Meal Period Timing**

Plaintiffs offer three arguments in support of their contention that this Court should review *Brinker*'s rejection of their position that the "meal period should be moved closer to the midpoint of the day." (Petition, p. 20, fn. 22.) All are flawed.

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